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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE September 8, 1974 

Office of the White House Press Secretary 

·-------------------~---------~-------------------------------~---

THE WHITE HOUSE 

GRANTING PARDON TO RICHARD NIXON 

BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

A PROCLAMATION 

Richard Nixon became the thirty-seventh President of tbe United States on 
January 20, 1969 and was reelected in 1972 for a second term by the electors 
of forty-nine of the fifty states. His term in office continued until his 
resignation on August 9, 1974. 

Pursuant to resolutions of the House of Representatives, its Committee on 
the Judiciarr conducted an inquiry and investigation on the impeachment 
of the President extending over more than eight months. The hearings of 
the Committee and its deliberations, which received wide national publicity 
over television, radio, and in printed media, resulted in votes adverse to 
Richard Nixon on recommended Articles of Impeachment. 

As a result of certain acts or omissions occurring before his resignation 
from the Office of President, Richard Nixon has become liable to possible 

_.indictment and trial for offenses against the United States. Whether or not 
he shall be so prosecuted depends on findings of the appropriate grand jury 
and on the discretion of the authorized prosecutor. Should an indictment 
ensue, the accused shall then be entitled to a fair trial by an impartial 
jury, as guaranteed to every individual by the Constitution. 

It is believed that a trial of Richar.d Nixon, if it became necessary, could 
not fairly begin until a year or more has elapsed. In the meantime, the 
tranquility to which this nation has been restored by the events of recent 
weeks could be irreparably lost by the prospects of bringing to trial a 
former President of the United States. The prospects of such trial will 
cause prolonged and divisive debate over the propriety of exposing to 
further punishment and degradation a man who has already paid the un­
prececented penalty of relinquishing the highest elective office in tb~ United 
States. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I Gerald R. Ford, President of the United States, 
pursuant to the pardon power conferred upon me by Article U, Section Z, 
of the Constitution, have granted and by these presents do grant a full, 
free, and absolute pardon unto Richard Nixon for all offenses against the 
United States which he, Richard Nixon, has committed or may have committed 
or taken part in during the period from January 20, 1969 through August 9, 
1974. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 8th day of September 
in the year of our Lord nineteen hundred seventy-four, and of the Independence 
of the United States of America the one hundred ninety-ninth, 

GERALD R. FORD 
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,. :·· 5. All resolutions of inqtiiry.addressed_to the heads 
.... ........ of executive departments shall be re-
.,.....,. ported to the House within one week -

-• atfur -p~tation.-
, • The HCJ\1M h&e exercised the right, Uom ita earliest daya, to call on t~ 

i'reeident and beads of deparlmenta for information. The ftm rule Oil 
• the subject wu adopted in 1820 for the purpose of eeeurlng greater care 

&tid deliberation in the making of requeeta. The present form of rule, 
in Ita eeeential features, dates from 1879 (III, 1856). 

Reeolutionll of inquiry are usually simple rather than concurrent ~ 
, ... ...._.r , form (III, 1875), and are never joint reaolutloDII (I~ 
....., • .._., •-.!• 1860) • . ~ reeolutit?n authorizing a committee W 
~ ... . - request information has been treated u a reeolution ol_ 
~ .....,.,., inquiry (III, 1860). It 'baa been conllidered propW 
tcJ uie the word "requeet" in uking for information from the Preeiden• 

, and ''direct" in addressing the heads of departmenta .<III, 1856, f~ 
· ' • • .DOte, 1896). It ia uaual for the House in ea1llng qJi the President for .... 

;_ 'blformatfon, ~Y with relation .to foreign aft&ira, to uae the 41U&ll-
. . .. [~] 

·~ 01' TID BOUD 01' UPJIDDTA.Tll'M · 
a.~exm. flllf,-. 
fying clause "if not incompatible with the public interest" (11, -1347; 
III, 1896-1901; V, 5769; VI, 436) • . But·in eome inetanoee the BOUle 
baa made ita inquirie&-of the Preeident without condition, and hu n• 
made the inquiry imperative (III, 1896-4901). ReeolutfoDi Of inqufr7 . 
are delivered under direction of the Clerk (III, 1879) and are &D8Wtll'ed 
by subordinate omoers of ~he Government elthet dlreotl7 or through tbe 

·~ Preefdent (Ill, 1008-191Q). · · · .• · · 
The practicie of the House gives to reeolutfon11 of InqtJJri a prldepd 

' '~ at&tua. :• Thtie, they are privileged fot · ~rt · aDd 
.!:'..;.~..... con8f~eiation at any time after their ~~~ to a 
.,.......,.. . comnilttee (III, 1870; VI, 418, 414}, .f?ut nol ~on 
. '\ ·. (III; 1867), and are In order fot corudderatlon .on)J' 
od. motion direclted to be made by the committee ~g the aame 
(vt; 413; Vlll, 2310). They are privileged for CIOD8lderatic)n on''Su. 
pen11lon days" and take precedence of the Con~~ent Calendar (VI, 409), 
but ·a..e not in o~er on Calendar Wednesday (VII, 896--898}: :And 

..._,nly reeolution11 &ddreeaed to tht1 Preeident and th~ heads of the execu-
tive departments have the privilege (Ill, 1861~1864; · VI, 406). ·To 

· • · enjoy the privllege a resolution should call for facta rather;tban oplnloM 
;· · J (III, 1872, 1873; VI, 413, 4~8-432), ahouid not require In~• ' 
~· · ' (III, 1872-1S74; VI, 4~, 427, 429, 432), and lliould Dot ~t a 
!- preamble (Ill, 1877, 1878; VI, 422, 427); btit It a .n.N>lutlon· dD ita . 

t 
-.: · faoe oalia fo:r facta, the Chair will not in veetip.te tb~ piob&bllity · oftbe •. 1 

· exiatence 9f the facta ~led for (VI, 422). However, a reiOlutlon. iDo-: •. - • 
qulrlng for such facta as would lneTitably require ihe at&tement ol aa t 

: opinion to ~wey euoh inquiry ia.not pri'rilesecf (SpeU~r.~ 
W: Feb. 11, 1926, p. 3806). · .; · . • , 
'-" · QueetioDII of privilege (aa c:Uatlnguiahed frolii privili!ged · queetiona) 

have eometimee arleen in cuee wherein the head of a depart-t hall 
deolined to ~nd to an inquiry and the Houae hu deeired to diml&Dd ~ 
a further answer (III, 1891; VI, 436); but a dem.a.nd for a more oomplete 
reply (III, 1892) or a proposition to lnveetlpte as to whether ·or not · 
there bu been a failure or refuul to reepond may not be preeented IIi 
involving the privileges of the House (III, 1893). · · · 1 • . • : 

Committeee ate required to report reeolutione ofhiqulrj back tot~ • 
· . .: Houae within one week of the referenoe',· and ·tbJa 

.... Dlllellarpl ...._"' ··- week'• time is construed to be seven legialatlve days 

.. ·-···--· . ...-a~~eaer~. (VIII, 3368; Speaker Raybu111 Feb. 9, 1960, P~. 176&) 
. . . exclusive of either the first or ~ dat .(III, 1868, 

1869), • ·If a committee refuaee or neglecta to report the resolution 
back, the Houee may reach the reeolutlon only _by a motion to dil­
ob.arP the oommlttee (III, 18M). The ord1D&r7- motion -to dilt-

.9 -~a ~ttee is not privileged (VUI, 2818); bu~ the:pr;..,uoe 

, 
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Bl:l'LU CW TJD BOUD o:r UPRDJJ!IMATIVU 
H...._ • • a.JeUIIL 
oi the Hotue hal given privflep ~ the motion In Cuell of reeolutlona 
ol Inquiry (III, 1866-1870). And this motion to discharge is priv-

. Ueged at the end of the week, even though the reeolutlon may have 
been del&jed lh reaching the committee (III, 1871). The motion to 

· diacliArge Ia nOt c{ebatable (III, 1868; VI, 415}. However, U the 
motion Ia aireed-to, the reeolution is debatable under the hour rule • 

- UDleea the prevtoua queetlon Ia ordered (VI, 416, 417). .. 
· The Presi~t ·having failed to reepond to a, ..-,Iutton of tDqufry, 

, · · · ·.' .. · . :the. House respectfully reminded him of the fact 
:··-~~ (111,.1800)·. ·In 1796 the Bouse declared. that Ita !:':!' .:_...._ :. .oOD.tltutlonal requeeta 0! the· Executive for fnfor­
.. • . .. • . m&tion need not be accompanied by a statement of 

·., parpoeee (II,· i600). AIJ ~·the ·kind of Information which may be 
.. required, elp80lally u to the papers that may be demanded, there baa 

• been much discullion (111,-1700, 1738, 1888, 1902, 1903; Vl, 402, 435). 
• There have been 11everal OOD1Ucte with the Exeoutln (II, 11584, 1561: 

1. • lli,· tSM; 188&-1889, 18H) :o-ter tlemanda tor papers and Information, . 
'· • ·..pec~any when the reeolutiOtll have called for p&pel'8 relating to 

forefcn alf&irl (1I, 1~1618;· 1618t U10). ·. ' . 

6. 'Wben.·a bill, . reeahition, or 1nemorial is intro­
.., · •• .. ~: duced ''PY request," ·these words shall · ·· . · ~=-~ be mitered ~pon the Journal and printed · 
~ ...-e: . ·.in the. RecOi'd. . ·"' 

· Tbb. rUle_wu adopted fD lssS P:Vi 8366). . · . • , 
It hM _,. belll the pnitit;M (JI tbe Hoae to penDti the liaaiel ol the ~ 

penoDI ~ Ule IDkOclu-.- ol tbe biD to b8 printed Ill the 
R.oorcL . 
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HEARINGS BEFORE THE COMMITTEE ON RULES AND ADMINISTRATION, 
UNITED STATES SENATE, NINETY-THIRD CONGRESS- November 5, 1973 

THE CHAIRMAN. Do you believe that a President can legally prevent, 
or terminate any criminal investigation or prosecution involving the President? 

MR. FORD. I do not think he should, and as I think I said in response to 
Senator Byrd's question, when we got into executive privilege, that where 
you are talking about documents and data involving criminality and executive 
privilege, certainly the strong, strong, strong, presumption is that those 
documents should be made available to the prosecution, And I cannot 
imagine a President-- I hope that there will never be a President who 
will take such· action. 

THE CHAIRMAN. If a President resigned his office before his term 
expired, would his successor have the power to prevent or to terminate 
any investigation or criminal prosecution charges against the former 
President? 

MR. FORD. Would he have the authority? 

THE CHAIRMAN. Yes, would he have the power? 

MR. FORD. I do not think the public would stand for it. I think -- and 
whether he has the technical authority or not, I cannot give you a categorical 
answer. 

The Attorney General, in my opinion, with the help and support of the 
American people, would be the controlling factor. 

THE CHAIRMAN. Do you believe that any President or Vice President 
of the United States should claim absolute immunity from prosecution 
while in office? 

MR. FORD. Well, as I said a moment ago, as I understand the 
Constitution, a President has to be impeached and convicted before he can 
be prosecuted. But once he has been impeached and convicted by the 
Congress, then he is not immune under any circumstances to criminal 
prosecution. I think the same would apply as far as the Vice President 
is concerned. 
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AUGUST" 1974 
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11. M. G·:>H 
P~M. Congressman 

Trt!e:t. Dinner 

Remain overnight 

1111 

fl) 
·J:OO A.M. DAV Conf. 
>:00 P.M. Arrive EOB 

Office 
Sti!ff <:. nd ScheduleC: 
~"=ectings · 

P.M. Richa;d Nixon 
I tape statem_e~t 

® 
11:00 A.M. Cabinet 

Meeting 

P.M. Staff an.d 
Scheduled Meetings 

31 JULY 1974 

5:00A.M. Return 
fron1 Nevad 

P.M.: Golf 
Worchester 
Mass. 

Staff and 
Scheduled Meeting~ 

o') <;'> 
.... ,tJ,) 

2:30P.M. 

resident Ford 
News Con.fere::,ce 

It I 
; 1 9:00A.M. Gen. Haig 

1 12:30 P. :V::. Con£. visits. 
3:30 P.M. Gen. Haig 
5:00 P.M. CNO Qtrs. 
8:00 P.M. Dinner-

Grabers 

sc 
; I 0; 00 A; M. Posthumous 

Medals • 
11:00 A.M. Meeting with 

President Nixon 

9:00 P.M. Richard Nixot 
announces resignation 

J' I"' hJJ 

~; ,. 
8:30A.M. James 8:00A.M. Depart for 

St. Clai'r Starkville, Miss. 
9:00A.M. to 6:00 P.M.ll:OO A.M. Jackson, 

Staff and Scheduled 
Meetings 

8:00P.M. Dinner 
hosted by Dave 

"Kennerly 

ill) 
12:00 P.M. President 

Ford assumes office 

Richard Nixon leayes 
oHice 

Miss. 
2:15P.M. Hattiesburg, 

Miss. 
4:30 P.Yc. New Orleans 
5:15 Press Conference ! 
Rem.am ':~rnight_ll 
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I 
l 



~~1'974 
Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

I 2 LAIOII DAY 3 4 5 6 '7 
j 

. 
\ 
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dent Nixon 
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15 16 17 ROSH HASHANA IS •. 19 20 21 
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8:00p.m. 
Press: Confer-
ence 

22 23 24 25 26 YOM KIPPUR 27 28 . ,. 
\ 

"'1-0 .. ; ~. 
• 

29 30 . 
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NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF VICE PRESIDENT FORD'S SCHEDULE 
31 JULY 1974 THROUGH 8 AUGUST 1974 

Wednesday, 31 July 1974 
You returned from Nevada at approximately 5:00a.m. and attended 
the Chowder and Marching breakfast at the Capitol Hill Club. On 
your return to the office you participated in the retirement ceremony 
of General John C. Meyer and departed shortly thereafter for a Pro-Am 
golf tournament at Worcester, Massachusetts with House Majority Leader 
Tip O'Neill. You arrived back in Washington approximately 11:00 p.m. 

Thursday, August I, 1974 
Your schedule began with a 30 minute Intelligence briefing by Dave 
Peterson of CIA. You then met with General Haig from 9:05 until 9:50a.m. 
Robert Hartmann was present during this meeting. This was followed by 
scheduled staff visits and appointments including congressional visits on 
the Hill from 12:30 to 1:30 p.m. You met with General Haig from 3:30 to 
4:20p.m. At approximately 5:00p.m. you met with Mrs. Ford at the CNO 
residence for a briefing of progress and a tour of the house. You returned 
to the office for a short period and that evening attended a private dinner 
hosted by Mr. and Mrs. Graber. 

Friday, August 2, 1974 
You met with Mr. St. Clair at approximately 8:30 a.m. which was followed 
by a staff action meeting and a briefing by General Scowcroft. Following 
that was a Congressional briefing by Bill Timmons after which you departed 
for Capitol Hill for congressional visits, meeting with Senator Hugh Scott 
at 1:00 p.m. You had a 2:30p.m. interview with Mr. James Reston of 
the New York Times and finished the day attending to regularly scheduled 
appointments. 'Ihatevening you and Mrs. Ford attended a dinner hosted by 
Mr. Dave Kennerly at the Old Angler Inn Restaurant. 

Saturday, August 3, 1974 
You departed Andrews at 8:00 a.m. for Starkville, Mississippi to attend 
a rally for Congressman Hillman. You then proceeded to Jackson, 
Mississippi for Congressman Cochran's rally, and then on to Hattiesburg, 
Mississippi for a mid-afternoon rally for Congressman Lott and a 3:00p.m. 
press conference. You then departed for New Orleans, Louisiana for a 
5:15 press conference and an evening reception for Congressman Treen. 
You remained overnight in New Orleans. 
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Sunday, August 4, 1974 
You played golf in the morning, toured the Crippled Children's Hospital 
in the late afternoon and then attended a private dinner with Congressman 
Treen that evening. You remained overnight in New Orleans. 

Monday, August 5, 1974 
You addressed the Disabled American Veterans Conference in the morning 
and then departed New Orleans arriving at your office at approximately 
3:10 p.m. You spent the afternoon meeting with members of your staff 
and had an hour meeting with Mr. Roy Ash from 4:00 to 5:00p.m. There 
was nothing on your schedule for the evening of 5 August. 

Tuesday, August6, 1974 
You had breakfast on Capitol Hill hosted by Congressman Clarence Brown. 
At 11:00 a.m. you attended a Cabinet meeting during which the President 
discussed the economy and other issues, but did not discuss his intentions 
regarding resignation. In the afternoon you completed your scheduled 
appointments, including interviews with Mr. Royster of the Wall Street 
Journal and Betty Beale of the Star News. You met with Chairman Bush 
for approximately 15 minutes late in the afternoon and had nothing on your 
schedule for the evening. 

Wednesday, August 7, 1974 
You did not attend the Chowder and Marching breakfast scheduled for 
8:00 a.m. but spent your morning meeting with various members of 
your staff. At 11:15 a.m. you departed for Capitol Hill for congressional 
visits and an interview with Marjorie Hunter of the New York Times. 
Upon returning to your Executive Office Building office you were inter­
viewed by Mr. Paul Martin, U.S. News & World Report, for one hour 
and 30 minutes and spent the rest of the afternoon completing your 
scheduled appointments until approximately 6:00p.m. Your schedule 
was running late that day and an interview with Mr. Allen Otten of the 
Wall Street Journal, a scheduling meeting, and a Staff Action Meeting 
were cancelled. 

Thursday, August 8, 1974 
You met with White House Interns for a photo session at 8:30a.m. and 
at 10:00 a.m. you went to Blair House where you awarded Posthumous 
Medals of Honor. Your noon departure for Los Angeles, California 
was cancelled,. and you met w1th President Nixon at 11:00 a.m. 
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8:00am 

10:00 am 

11:00 am 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Wednesday, July 31, 1974 

OPTIONAL: C&M Breakfast 
Capitol Hill Club 

Retirement Ceremony 
General John C. Meyer 

Depart Andrews AFB enroute Worcester, Mass. 

1:30-6:30 pm GOLF: Pro-Am Tournament 

7:15pm Dinner; Country Club 

10:00 pm Arrive Andrews AFB 



-
8:30am 
(10 minutes) 

8:45am 

9:00 am 

9:50am 

11:00 am 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Thursday, August 8, 1974 

PHOTO: White House Interns 

Mr. Miltich 

Mr. Hartmann 

Posthumous Medals of Honor 

Meeting with President Nixon 



8:20am 
(25 minutes) 

9:00am 
(50 minutes) 

10:00 am 
(50 minutes) 

11:30 am 
(45 minutes) 

12:30 pm 
(1 hour) 

2:15pm 
(30 minutes) 

2:45pm 
(25 minutes) 

3:30pm 
(50 minutes) 

5:00 pm 
(60 minutes) 

8:00pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Thursday, August 1, 1974 

Dave Peterson (CIA) 

General Haig and Mr. Hartmann 

Mr. Kenneth Rush 

Ambassador Dinitz and Foreign Minister Alon (Israel) 

Congressional Visits/Capitol Hill 

Paul McKraken and Mr. Seidman 

Milton Hoffman 

General Haig 

CNO Quarters 

Private Dinner hosted by Mr. and Mrs. Graber 



8:10am 
(15 minutes) 

8:30am 
(30 minutes) 

9:15 am 
(45 minutes) 

10:00 am 
(50 minutes) 

ll:lO am 
(20 minutes) 

ll:30 am 
(2 hours) 

2:30pm 
(50 minutes) 

3:40pm 
(10 minutes) 

4:00pm 
(15 minutes) 

4:30pm 

5:00 pm 

8:00pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Friday, August 2, 1974 

Dave Peterson (CIA) 

~r. James St. Clair 

Staff Action Group ~eeting 

General Scowcroft 

Congressional Briefing by Bill Timmons 

Personal Time (Congressional Visits)/Capitol Hill 

~r. James Reston 

Dr. Roger Shields, Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense 

National League of Families 

Secretary William Simon 

~r. Hartmann 

Informat Dinner hosted by ~r. Dave Kennerly 



-
8:00 am 

10:00 am 

ll:05 am 

ll:25 am 

1:40pm 

2:15pm 

2:22 pm 

3:02pm 
(20 minutes) 

3:45pm 

4:25pm 

5:15 pm 
(20 minutes) 

6:55pm 
(3 hours) 

10:00 pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Saturday, August 3, 1974 

Depart Andrews AFB enroute Starkville, Miss. 

Cong. Hilbun Rally 

Arrive Jackson, Miss. 

Cochran Rally 
VIP Reception and Luncheon 

Depart Jackson enroute Hattiesburg, Miss. 

Arrive Hattiesburg, Miss, 

Rally for Cong. Lott 

Press Conference 

Depart Hattiesburg enroute New Orleans, La. 

Arrive New 0 rleans, La. 

Press Conference 

Reception w /Local Officials 
VIP Reception for Cong. Treen 
Dinner for Cong. Treen 

Arrive Suite 
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8:00 am 
(5 hours) 

4:00pm 
(1 hour) 

7:13 pm 
(2 hours, 

15 minutes) 

9:38pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Sunday, August 4, 1974 

Golf 

Tour of Crippled Childrens Hospital 

Private Dinner w I Cong. Treen 

Arrive Suite 
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9:15am 
(30 minutes) 

10:40 am 

2:50pm 

3:15pm 
( 45 minutes) 

4:00pm 
(1 hour, 

15 minutes) 

5:50pm 

6:00pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Monday, August 5, 1974 

Disabled American Veterans Conference 

Depart New 0 rleans enroute Andrews AFB 

Arrive Andrews AFB 

Mr. Hartmann and Mr. Marsh 

Mr. Roy Ash 

Mr. Hartmann 

Personal Time 



9:15 am 
(1 hour, 

45 minutes) 

11:00 am 

1:45pm 
(15 minutes) 

3:00pm 

3:30pm 
(30 minutes) 

4:00pm 
(15 minutes) 

4:30pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT 1S SCHEDULE 
Tuesday, August 6, 1974 

Personal Time 

Cabinet Meeting 

Meeting with National Association of Homebuilders 

Japanese Legislators 

INTERVIEW: Mr. Vermont Royster 
Wall Street Journal 

Ms. Betty Beale 
Washington Star-News 

Chairman Bush 



-
9:10am 
(10 minutes) 

9:20am 
(50 minutes) 

10:10 am 
(35 minutes) 

11:30 am 
(2 hours) 

2:00pm 
(1 hour, 

25 minutes) 

3:25pm 

4:00pm 
(20 minutes) 

4:20pm 
(30 minutes) 

5:00 pm 
(15 minutes) 

5:15 pm 
(30 minutes) 

5:45pm 

THE VICE PRESIDENT'S SCHEDULE 
Wednesday, August 7, 1974 

Dave Peterson (CIA) 

Mr. Hartmann and Mr. Marsh 

Mr. Hartmann 

Congressional Visits /Capitol Hill 

INTERVIEW: Mr. Paul Martin 
U.S. News & World Report 

General Scowcroft 

Secretary Mittendorf and Admiral Holloway 

Mr. Hartmann 

Mr. Fred Malek 

Mr. Hartmann and Mr. Marsh 

Personal Time 
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August 6, 1974 

AM 

PM 

August 7, 1974 

AM 

PM 

August 8, 1974 

AM 

PM 

(Incoming) 

(Incoming) 
(Outgoing) 

(Outgoing) 
(Incoming) 
(Outgoing) 

(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 
(Outgoing) 
(Outgoing) 

(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 

(Outgoing) 
(Incoming) 

(Outgoing) 
(Outgoing) 

(Incoming) 
(Outgoing) 
(Outgoing) 
(Outgoing) 
(Outgoing) 
(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 

-2-

Walter Judd 

Sen. Curtis 
Mrs. Ford 

Cong. Dillenback 
Walter Mote 
Sec. Schlesinger 
Mrs. Ford 

Phillip Buchen 
Walter Judd 
Sen. Curtis 
Milton Hoffman 
Sen. Griffin 
Mrs. Ford 
Cong. Gilman 

Sec. Morton 
Sen. Griffin 

Mrs. Ford 
Jack Ford 
Speaker Albert 
Sen. Mansfield 
Chief Justice Burger 
Cong. John Rhodes 
Justin Dart 
Sen. Hugh Scott 
Cong. Thomas 0 'Neill 
Sen. Griffin 
Cong. Arends 
Arthur Burns 
General Haig 



July 31, 1974 

AM 

August 1, 1974 

AM 

PM 

August 2, 1974 

AM 

PM 

August 3-4, 1974 

PHONE CALLS 

(Outgoing) 
(Incoming) 

(Outgoing) 

(Incoming) 
(Incoming) 

(Incoming) 

Mrs. Ford 
Chairman Bush 
Cong. John Rhodes 

Mrs. Ford 
Bill Whyte 

Mrs. Ford 

Cong. Gilman 
James St. Clair 

Sen. Griffin 
Mrs. Ford 
General Haig 
Gov. Rockefeller 

MISSISSIPPI and LOUISIANA 

August 5, 1974 

AM 

PM 

Sec. Kissinger 

General Haig 
Cong. Arends 
Sen. Griffin 
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Release of Additional Transcripts of 
P('~iidential Conversations 

S latement by the President. August 5, 197 4 

I have today i~structed my attorneys to make available 
to the House Judiciary Committee, and I am making 

r 

( 

( 

public, the transcripts of th~ conversations with H. R. 
Haldeman on June 23, 1972. I have also turned over 
the tapes of these conversations to Judge Sirica, as part of 
the process of my compliance with the Supreme Court ~ 
ruling. ~ 

On April 29, in announcing my decision to make public 
the original set of White House transcripts, I stated that 
"as far as what the President personally knew and did 
with regard to Watergate and the coverup is concerned, 
these materials-together with those already made avail- • _ 
able-will tdl it all." 

. ).· .. ~ ;";,-

. . Shortly after that, in May, I made a preliminary revieW-
of some of the 64 taped conversations subpoenaed _by the : .J 
SpeCial Prosecutor. . _ · . · ,, ;.'!~~ 

.;:•Q 
Among the conversations I listened to at that time ~J¥. 

two of those of June 23. Although'! recogriized that tliae" :J 
· presented potential problems, I did not inform·_my:s~~i 
· or my Counsel of it; or those arguing my 'case, 'nJr· dl"tt(:;::~ 

amend my submission to the Judiciary Committee.in o~-i;:'~ 
to include and reflect it. At the time, I did Iiot reali:i~ 'the ~ --~1, 
extent of the implications whic~ these conversations_ lnipti;.; ~ 
now appear to have. As a result, those 'algWng,iriy as;,:~ 
as wdl as those passing judgment on the Ca.se, didso;lvith{ .. ;:}i 
information that was incomplete and. in · some re5~.;~;;: 
erroneous. This was a serious act of omission for-which·H~-~ 
~e full respoitsibility and whic~ I:deepl~ ~7:'::~.: 

Since the Supreme Court's dec~on 12. days ago. , I~-- 4 
ordered my Counsel to analyze the 64 tapes, · and I have 
listened to a number of them myself. ThiS proce3 has ~de· 

· i~ clear that portions of the tapes of these Juri~ .2?-c~ .. ,:~ 
venations .are at variance with certain of my': previ~ "<""' ~~ 
statements. Therefore, I have ordered the transcriptS made "j 
avaibble immediately to the Judiciary Committee~li~:{~~t-~ 
tbe1 cim be reflected in the Committee's report ·and· ~~·:/~l 

. eluded in the. record to be considered by the . Ho~ ;;:r .. ~~ 
Senate. .. ·.~;-:-•, --~~ 

In a form~ written statement on May 22 ·of i~· j~~;!~ 
I Said that shortly after the Watergate breik-in I ·~_~ ·:­
concerned about the possibility that the FBI investigaiiCG, 
might lead to the exposure either of unmated· cov«;rt~~: 
tivities of the CIA or of sensitive national SecUrity matteri ., 

. that -the so-called "plumbers" unit at the· White' HoYie1t,;.~ 
had been working on, because of the CIA and plunt.~·./'f :; 
connections of some of those involved. I said that I th~~i 
fore gave instructions that the FBI should be ·alerted·to~·-,:1, 
coordinate with the CIA and to ensure that the investip~··~ 
tion not expose these sensitive national security matter&: 

That statement was based on my recollection ·at the 
time-some 11 months later-plus documentary materials 
and relevant public testimony of those involved. _ 

The June 23 tapes clearly show, however, that at the 
time· I gave those instructions I also discussed the political ~ 
aspects of the situation, and that I was aware of the a.d- • 
vantages this course of action would have with respect to 



·-

( limiting possible public exposure of involvement by per-
sons connected with the re-election committee. 

My review of the additional tapes has, so far, shown no 
other major inconsistencies with what I have previously 
submitted. While I have no way at this stage of being 
certain that there will not be others, I have no reason to 
believe that there will be. In any case, the tapes in their 
entirety are now in the process of being furnished to Judge 
Sirica. He has begun what may be a rather lengthy process 
of reviewing the tapes, passing on specific claims of execu-
rive privilege on portions of them, and forwarding to the 
Special Prosecutor those tapes or those portions that are 
relevant to the Watergate investigation. · ~-- '' 

. 
It is highly unlikely that this review·Win be completed 

in time for the Howie' debate:=It ~appearS at this stage, 
however, that a House vote 'of impeachn1ent is, as a prac-
tical matter, virtually a foregone conclusion, and that the 
issue will therefore go to trial in the Senate. In order to 

' '·' -~ ensure that no other significant relevant materials are 
withheld, I shall voluntarily furnish to the Senate every-
thing from these tapes that Judge Sirica rules should go 
to the Special Prosecutor~· > • 

I recognize that this additionaL material I. am now 
furnishing may further damage my case, especially be-

( 
cause attention will be drawn separately to it rather than. 
to the evidence in its entirety. In considering its implica-
tions, therefore, I urge that two points be borne in mind. 

The first of the~e points is to remember what actually 
,. ,.. .., .. happened as a ~ult of the instructions I gave on June 23. 

Acting Director Gray of the FBI did coordinate with 
Director Helms and Deputy Director Walters of the CIA. 
The CIA did undertake an extensive check to see whether 
any of its covert activities would be compromised by a 
full FBI investigation of Watergate. Deputy Director 

~:: Walters then reported back to Mr. Gray that they would 
not be compromised. On July 6, when I called Mr. Gray, 
and when he expressed concern about improper attempts 
to limit his investigation, as the record shows, I told him 
to press ahead vigorously with his investigation-which he 
did. 

The second point I would urge is that the evidence be , 
looked at in its entirety and the events be looked at in 
perspective. Whatever mistakes I .made in the handling 
of Watergate, the basic truth remains that when · all the 
facts were brought to my attention I insisted on a full 
investigation and prosecution of those guilty. I am firmly 
convinced that the record, in its entirety, does not _iustify 
the extreme step of impeachment and removal of a Presi-
dent. I trust that as the constitutional process goes forward, 

( 
this perspective will prevail. 

Non: Copies of the transcripts of the three convenations were made 
available with the statement by the White Houte Press Office. 
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PRESIDENT GERALD R. FORD'S NEWS CONFERENCE #1 

Held in the East Room 
At the White House 
Washington, D.C. 

August 28, 1974 
At 2:30 P.M. EDT (Wednesday) 

QUESTION: Mr. President, aside from the Special Prosecutor's 
role, do you agree with the Bar Association that the law applies equally 
to all men, or do you agree with Governor Rockefeller that former President 
Nixon should have immunity from prosecution, and specifically, would you 
use your pardon authority, if necessary? 

THE PRESIDENT: Well, let me say at the outset that I made a 
statement in this room in the few moments after the swearing-in, and on 
that occasion I said the following: That I had hoped that our former 
President, who brought peace to millions, would find it for himself. 

Now, the expression made by Governor Rockefeller, I think, 
coincides with the general view and the point of view of the American 
people. I subscribe to that point of view. But let me add, in the last 
ten days or two weeks I have asked for prayers for guidance on this very 
important point. 

In this situation, I am the final authority. There have been 
no charges made, there has been no action by the courts, there has been 
no action by any jury and, until any legal process has been undertaken, 
I think it is unwise and untimely for me to make any commitment. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, may I just follow up on Helen's 
question: Are you saying, sir, that the option of a pardon for former 
President Nixon is still an option that you will consider, depending on 
what the courts will do? 

THE PRESIDENT: Of course, I make the final decision. And 
until it gets to me, I make no commitment one way or another. But I do 
have the right as President of the United States to make that decision. 

QUESTION: And you are not ruling it out? 

THE PRESIDENT: I am not ruling it out. It is an option and 
a proper option for any President. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, do you feel the Special Prosecutor 
can in good conscience pursue cases against former top Nixon aides as 
long as there is the possibility that the former President may not also 
be pursued in the courts? 



THE PRESIDENT: I think the Special Prosecutor, Mr. Jaworski, 
has an obligation to take whatever action he sees fit in conformity with 
his oath of office, and that should include any and all individuals. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, to further pursue Helen's inquiry, 
have there been any communications between the Special Prosecutor's office 
and anyone on your staff regarding President Nixon? 

THE PRESIDENT: Not to my knowledge. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, you have emphasized here your option 
of granting a pardon to the former President. 

THE PRESIDENT: I intend to. 

QUESTION: You intend to have that option. If an indictment 
is brought, would you grant a pardon before any trial took place, or are 
you in this position in the case? 

THE PRESIDENT: I said at the outset that, until the matter 
reaches me, I am not going to make any comment during the process of 
whatever charges are made. 

2 
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This Copy for 

PRESIDENT GERALD R. FORD'S NE~vS CONI'ERENCE #2 

Held in the East Room 
.. At 1.~he vihi te House 
tvashington, D. c. 

September 16, 1974 
at 8:00 P.M. EDT (Monday) 

Official w~ite House Transcript 

THE PRESIDENT: Please sit downo 

Ladies and gentlemen, thi3 p:x-ess conference 
is being held at a time when many P~ericans are obs~rving 
the Jewish religious new year. It begins a period of self- · 
examination and reconciliation. In opening this press 
conference, I am mindful that the spirit of this holy day 
has a. meaning fol' all Americans. 

In examining one:s deeds of the last yed~ 
and in assuming responsibility for past actions and perso:n:1l 
decisions, one can reach a point of growth and change. The 
purpos(~ of looking back is to go f0rward ¥1i th a n·~W and 
enlightened dedication to cur highest values. 

The r·ecor-d of the pa$t year does not have to 
be endlessly relived, but can be transfor.1.1ed by · commitmer1t 
"'co new insights and ne\v actions in the year to ccme. 

Ladies and gentlemen~ · I ari\ reariy for ·your· 
.que'>ti?ns. 

Hr . Cormier. 

QUESTION~ Nr. President~ some Congressional 
Repul::.licans · who have talked to you have hinted that you 
may have had a secret z·cason fo-r r;r~:nt-ing Pre-si-dent Nixon 
a pardon sooner than you :Lndica:ced you woo1d at the last 
news . conferences and I wonaer if you could tell us t.Jhat 
that reason was. 

, 
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THE PRESIDENT: At th~ outset, let me say I 
had no secret reason, and I don't recall telling any 
Republican that I had such a r~ason. Let me review 
quickly, if I might, the things that transpired follow­
ing the last news conference. 

As many of you know, I answered two, 
maybe three questions concerning a pardon at that time. 
On return to the office, I felt that I had to have my 
counsel undertake a thorough examination as to what my 
right of pardon was under the Constitution. I also felt 
that it was very important that I find out what legal 
actions, if any, were contemplated by the Special 
Prosecutor. 

That information was found out, and it was 
indicated to me that the possibility exi~ts, the very 
real possibility that the President would be charged with 
obstructing justice and ten other possible criminal actions. 

In addition, I asked my general counsel to 
firid out, if he could, how long such criminal proceedings 
would take, from the indictment, the carrying on of the 
trial, et cetera, and I was informed that this would 
take a year, maybe somewhat longer, for the whole process 
to go through. 

I also asked my counsel to find out t-lhether 
or not under decisions of the judicial system a fair 
trial would be given to the former President. 

After I got that information, which took 
two or three days, I then began to evaluate, in my own 
mind t tvhether or not I shou:i.d take the action, whi~h I 
subsequently did. 

Miss Thomas. 

QUESTION: Throughout your Vice Presidency, 
you said that you didn't believe that former President 
Nixon had ever committed an impeachable offense. Is that 
still your belief or do you believe that his acceptance 
of a pardon implies his guilt, or is an admission of 
guilt? 

# 
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THE PRESIDENT: The fact that 38 Members of 
the House Com.rnittee on the Judiciary, Democrat and 
Republican, have unanimously agreed in the report that 
was filed that the former President was guilty of an 
impeachable offense, I think is very persuasive 
evidence. 

And the seccnd question, I don't recall 

QUESTION: An admission of guilt.? 

THE PRESIDENT: Was the acceptance of the 
pardon by the President an admission of guilt? The 
acc~ptance of a pardon, I think, can be construed by 
many, if not all, as an admission of guilt. 

Yes, Mr. Nessen. 

QUESTION: What reports have you received on 
Mr. Nixon's health, and what effect, if any, did thi.s 
have on your decision to pardon him now? 

THE PRESIDENT: I have asked Dr. Lukash, who 
is the head physician in the White House, to keep me 
posted in proper channels as to the former President's 
health. I have been informed on a routine day-to-day 
basis, but I don't think I am at liberty to give any 
information as to those reports that I have received. 

You also asked wha't impact did the President 1 s 
health have on my decision. I think it is well known that 
just before I gave my statement at the tir.'l.e that I gave 
the pardon 1 personally wrote in a phrase 1:the threat to 
the President's health." 

The main concern that I had at the time I 
made the decision was to heal the wounds throughout the 
United States. for a period of 18 months or longer, we 
had had turmoil and divisiveness in the American society. 
At the same time, the United States had -:major problems 
both at horne and abroad that needed the :r:!laximurn personal 
attention of the President and many others in the Govern­
ment. 

# 
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It seemed to me th&t as long as this divisive­
ness continued, this turmoil existed, caused by the charges 
and counter charges, the responsible people in the Govern­
ment could not give their total attention to the problems 
that we had to solve at home and abroad. 

And the net result was that I was more anxious 
to heal the Nation. That was the top priority. I felt 
then~ and I feel now, that the action I took will do that. 
I couldn't be oblivious, however, to news accounts 
that I had concerning the President's health, but the 
major reason for the action I took rela~ed to the effort 
to reconcile divisions in our country and to heal the 
wou.tds that had festered far too long. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, after you had told us 
that you were going to allow the legal process to go on 
before you decided whether to pardon him, why did you 
decide on Sunday morning, abruptly, to pardon Presid~nt 
Nixon? 

THE PRESIDENT: I didn't decide abruptly. I 
explained a moment ago the process that I went through 
subsequent to the last press conference. When I had 
assembled all of that information that came to me through 
my counsel, I then most carefully analyzed the situation 
in the count:ry and I decided that we could not afford in 
America an extended period of continued turmoil and the fact 
that the trial, and all of the parts thereof, would have· 
lasted a year -- perhaps more -- with the continuation of 
the divisions in America, I felt that I should take the 
action that I did, promptly and effectively. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, I would like to ask 
you a question about the decision relating to custody of 
the Nixon tapes and documents. Considering the enormous 
interest that the Special Prosecutor's off1ce had in 
those documents for further investigation, I arn wondering 
why the negotiations with Mr. Nixon's representatives were 
conducted strictly between the counsel in your office 
without bringing in discussions ~ith either Mr. \Jaworski's 
represE:ntatives or those from the Justice Department. 

, 
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THE PRESIDENT: In the first placej I did 
receive a memorandum, or legal opinion, from the Department 
of Justice which indicated that_.in the opinion of the 
Department of Justice, the documents, tapes, the owner­
ship of them were in the hands of the former President. 
Historically, that has been the case for all Presidents. 

Now, the negotiations for the handling of the 
tapes and documents were undertaken and consummated by my 
staff and the staff of the former President. I believe 
that they have been properly preserved and they will be 
available under subpoena for any criminal proceeding. 
Now, the Special Prosecutor's staff has indicated some 
concern. I am saying tonight that my staff is working with 
the Special Prosecutor's staff to try and alleviate any 
con~erns that they have. I hope a satisfactory arrange­
ment can be worked out. 

QUESTION: Mr. Pr-esident, during your• contlrma­
tion hearings as Vice President, you said that you did no~ 
think that the country would stand for a President to 
pardon his predecessor. Has your mind been changed about 
sHr;h pnblic opinion'?' 

THE PRESIDENT: In those hearings before the 
Se:-tate Committee on Rules and Administration, I was 
asked a hypothetical question, and in answer .to that 
hypothetical qt<.estion, I responded by saying tha.t I did 
not think the American people would stand for such an 
action. 

Now that I am in the White House and don't 
have to answer hypothetical questions but have to deal 
·with reality, it was my ·judgment, after analyzing all of 
the facts, that it was in the best interest of the United 
States for me to take the action that I did. 

I think if you will reread what I said in 
answer to that hypothetical question, I did not say I 
wouldn't. I simply said that under the way the question 

. VIas phrased, the American people would object. 
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But I am absolutely convinced when dealing with 
reality in this very, very difficult situation, that I 
made the right decision in an effort, an honest, con­
scientious effort, to end the divisions and the turmoil 
in the United States. 

Mr. Lisagor. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, is there any safe­
guard in the tapes agreement that was made with Mr. Nixon, 
first, with their destruction in the event anything 
happens to him, because under the agreement they will be 
destroyed; and secondly, should not the tapes be kept 
in the White House until the Special Pr0secutor has finished 
dealing with them? 

THE PRESIDENT: The ·tapes and the documents 
are still in our possession and we are, as I said a 
moment ago, working with the Special Prosecutor's office, 
to alleviate any concerns they have as to their disposition 
and their availability. 

The agreement as to destruction is quite clear­
cut. As long as Mr. Nixon is alive and during the period 
of time that is set forth, they are available for subpoena 
by a court involving any criminal proceedings. I think 
this is a necessary requirement for ~he protection of 
evidence for any such action. 
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QUESTION: Mr. Pre5ident, recent Congress­
ional testimony has indicated that the CIA, under the 
direction of a committee headed by Dr. Kissingel', attempted 
to destabilize the Government of Chile under former 
President Allende. 

Is it ~he policy of your Administration to 
attemp·t to destabilize the governments of other 
democracies? 

THE PRESIDENT: Let me answer in general. I· 
think this is a very important question. 

Our GovernJnent, like other governments, does 
take certain actions in the intelligence-field to help 
implement foreign policy and protect national security. I 
am informed reliably .that Communist nations spend vastly 
more money than we do for the same kind of purposes. 

Now, in this particular case, as I understand 
it, a!1d there is no doubt in my mind, our Government hi'irl no 
involvement v1hatsoever in the Allende coup. To my 
knowledge, nobody has chat'ged that. The facts are we had 
no involvement in any way whatsoever in the coup itself. 

In a period of time, three or four years ago, 
there was an effort being made by the Allende government 
to destroy opposition news media, both the writing press 
as well as the electronic press, and to destroy oppositio~ 
political parties. 

The effort that was made in this case was 
to help and assis·t the preservation of opposition news­
papers and electronic media and to preserve opposition 
political parties. 

I think this is in the best interest of the 
people in Chile, and certainly in our best interest. 

Now, may I add one further comment. 

, 
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The 40 committee was established in 1948. It 
has been in existence under Presidents since that time. 
That corr~ittee reviews every covert operation undertaken 
by our Government, and that information is relayed to the 
responsible Congressional committees where it is reviewed 
by House and Senate committees. 

It seems to me that the 40 committee.should 
continue in existence, and I am going to meet with the 
responsible Congressional committees to see whether or 
not they want any changes in the review process so that 
the Congress, as well as the President, are fully informed 
and are fully included in the operations for any such 
action. 

·QUESTION: In view of public reaction, do 
you think the Nixon pardon really served to bind up the 
Nation's wounds? I wonder if you would assess public 
reaction to that move. 

THE PRrSIDENT: I must say that the decision 
has created more antagonism than I anticipated. But as 
I look over the long haul with a trial or several trials 
of a former President, criminal trials, the possibility 
of a former President being in the dock so to speak, 
and the divisions that would have existed not just for a 
limited period of time, but for a long period of time, it 
seems to me that when I had the choice between that 
possibility and the possibility of taking direct action 
hoping to conclude it, I am still convinced, despite the 
public reaction so far, that the decision I made was the 
right one. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, in regard to the 
pardon, you talk about the realities of the situation. 
Now those realities rightly or wron~ly included a good 
many people t-7ho speculate about whether or not there is 
some sort of arrangement -- even some of them call a deal 
between you and the former President or between your 
staff and his staff, resignation in exchange for a full 
pardon. 

, 
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The question is: I;s there or was there, to 
your knmvledge, any kind of understanding about this'? 

THE PRESIDENT: There was no understanding, no 
deal between me and the former President, nor between my 
staff and the staff of the former President, none 
whatsoever. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, there is a bill that 
the Treasury Department has put forward, I think it is 
about 38 pages. Under this bill, which deals t...;i th getting 
hold of the returns, Internal Revenue returns of the 
citizens of the country, you could take action to get those 
returns whenever you wanted to. 

I wonder if you are aware of this, and if you 
feel that you need to get those returns of citizens. 

THE PRESIDENT: It is my understanding that a 
President has, by tradition and practice, and by law, 
the right to have access to incomG tax returns. I 
personally think that is something that should be kept 
very closely held. A person's income tax return is a 
very precious thing to that individual and, therefore, 
I am about to issue an Executive Order that makes it 
even more restrictive as to how those returns can be handled 
and I do think that a proposed piece of legislation that is 
coming to me and subsequently wiJ.l be submitted, as I 
recollect, to the Congress would also greatly tighten up 
the availability or accessibility of income tax returns. 
I think they should be closely held, and I can assure 
you that they will be most judiciously handled as far as 
I am concerned. 

Yes. 

QUESTION: M1.,. President, looking beyond the Nixon 
papers and in view of sor:1e critic ism in Congress, do you 
believe we may have now reached the point where Presidential 
White House papers should remain in the Government's 
hands as the property of the Government? 
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THE PRESIDENT: A~ far as I am personally 
concerned, I can see a legitimate reason for Presidential 
papers remaining the property of the: Govet'nment. In my 
own. ca·se, I made a decision some years ago to turn over 
all of my Congressional papers, all of rny Vice Presidential 
papers to the University of Michigan archives. 

As far as I am concerned, whether they go to the 
archives for use or whether they stay the possession of the 
Government, I don't think it makes too much difference. 

I have no desire, personally, to retain whatever 
papers come out of my Administration. 

Mr. Mollenhoff. 

QUESTION: Mr. President~ at the last press 
conference you said, "The code of ethics that will be 
followed -vlill be the example .that I set." Do you find 
any conflicts of interest in the decision to grant a 
St<lecping paY'don to your lifelong friend and your 
financial benefactor with no consultation for advice 
and judgment for the legal fallout? 

THE PRESIDENT: The decision to grant a pardon 
to Mr. Nixon was made primarily, as I have expressed, for 
the purpose of trying to heal the wounds throughout the 
country betv1een Americans on one side of the issue or the 
other·. Mr. Nixon nominated me for the office of Vice 
President. I was confirmed overwhelmingly in the House 
as well as in the Senate. Every action I have taken, Mr. 
Mollenhoff, is predicated on my conscience without 
any concern or consideration as to favor as far as I am 
concerned. 

Yes. 

QUES'I'ION: . If your intention \•las to heal the 
wounds of the Nation, sir, why did you grant only a 
conditional amnesty to the Vietnam war veterans while 
granting a full pardon to President Nixon? 
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THE PRESIDENT: The only connection between these 
two cases is the effort that I made in the one to heal 
the wounds involving the charges against Mr. Nixon and my 
honest and conscientious effort to heal the wounds 
for those who had deserted military service or dodged the 
draft. That is the only connection between the two. 

In one case, you have a President vlho was forced 
to resip;n because of circumstances involving his Administra­
tion, and he has been shamed and disgraced by that resig- · 
nation. In the case of the draft dodgers and Army and 
military deserters, we are trying to heal the wounds by 
the action that I took with the signing of the Proclamation 
this morning. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, another concern that has 
been voiced around the country since the pardon is that 
the judicial process as it finally unwinds may not write 
the definitive chapter on Watergate and perhaps with 
particular regard to Mr. Nixon's particular involvement, 
ho•never totc.l, holi7ever it may have he~'m in trnt-h. My 
question is, would you consider appointing a special 
commission v7ith extraordinary powers to look into all of 
the evidentiary material and to write that chapter and not 
leave it to later history? 

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it seems to me as I look 
at what has been done, I think you find a mass of evidence 
that has been accumulated. In the first instance, you 
have the very intensive investigation conducted by the 
House Committee on the Judiciary. It was a very well­
conducted investigation. It came up witb volumes of 
infol~mation. 

In addition, the Special Prosecutor's office 
under Mr. Jaworski has conducted an intensive investi~ation 
and the Special Prosecutor's office will issue a report at 
the conclusion of their responsibilities that I think will 
probably make additional information ava.i1able to the 
American ?eople. 
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And thirdly, as th~ various criminal trials 
proceed in the _months ahead, there obviously will be 
additional infot"'mation made available to the American 
people. So, when you see what has been done and what 
undoubtedly will be done, I think the full story will be 
made available to the American people. 

QUESTION: Mr. Pr~sident, could you give us an 
idea who would succeed General Haig, and how are you 
coming on your search for a Press Secretary? 

THE PRESIDENT: Do I have a lot of candidates 
her~? (Laughter) No shows. (Laughter) 

I have several people in mirid to replace 
General Haig, but I have made no decision on that. It 
was just announced today that the NATO countries have 
accepted him as the officer handling those responsibilities. 

I think he is to take office succeeding General 
Goodpaster on December lS. He assumes his responsi­
bilities as the head of U.S. military forces November 1. 
In thE! next few days undoubtedly I will make the decision 
as to the individual to succeed him. 

So far as the Press Secretary is concerned, 
we are actively working on that, and we hope to have an 
announcement in a relatively short period of time. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, prior to your deciding 
to pardon Hr. Nixon, did you have, apart from those 
reports, any information either from associations of the 
President or from his family or from any other source 
about his health, about his medical condition? 

THE PRESIDENT: Prior to the decision that I 
made granting a pardon to Mr. Nixon, I had no other 
specific information concerning his health other than 
what I had read in the news media or heard in the news 
media. I had not gotten any information from any of the 
Nixon family. The sole source w~s what I had read in 
the news media plus one other fact. 
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On Saturday before the Sunday, a member of my 
staff was working with me on the several decisions I 
had to make. He was, from my staff, the one who had 
been in negotiations on Friday with the President and 
his staff. 

At the conclusion of decisions that were made, 
I asked him, how did the President look, and he reported 
to me his observations. 

But other than what I had read or heard and 
this particular incident, I had no precise information 
concerning the President's health. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, your own economic 
advisers are suggesting that to save the·economy,Hhich 
is very bad and very pessimistic, we are hearing the 
word "depression" used now. I wonder how you feel about 
whether we are heading for a depression? 

THE PRESIDENT: Let me say very strongly that 
the. United States_ia.-nut going_ t:o hdve a depr-ession. The 
overall economy of the United States is strong. Employment 
is still high. We do have the problem of inflation. We 
do have related problems, and we are going to come up with 
some answers that I hope will solve those problems. 

We are not going to have a depression. We are 
going to work to make sure that our economy improves in the 
months ahead. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, in the face of massive 
food shortages and the prospects of significant starvation, 
will the United States be able to significantly increase its 
food aid to foreign countries, and what is our position 
going to be at the Rome conference on participation in the 
world grain reserves? 

THE PRESIDENT: vli thin. the next few days a 
very major decision in this area will be made. I am not 
at liberty to tell you what the answer will be because it 
has not been decided. 
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But it is my hope that the United States for 
humanitarian purposes will be able to increase its 
contribution to those nations that have suffered because 
of drought or any of the other problems related to human 
needs. 

QUESTION: Back to the CIA, under what inter­
national law do we have a right to attempt todestabilize the 
constitutionally-elected government of another country, 
and does the Soviet Union have a similar right to try 
to destabilizethe Government of Canada, for example, or 
the United States? 

THE PRESIDENT: I am not going to pass judgment 
on whether it is permitted or authorized under international 
law. It is a recognized fact that historically, as well 
as presently, such actions are taken in the best interest 
of the countries involved. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, last month when you 
assumed the Presidency. you pledged openness and candor. 
Last week you decided on the ex-President's pardon in 
virtually total secrecy. Despite all you have said tonight, 
there would still seem to be some confusion, some 
contradiction. 

My question is this: Are the watchwords of 
your Administration still openness and candor? 

THE PRESIDENT: Without any question, without 
any reservation. And I think in the one instance that 
you cite, it was a sole decision, and believe me, it 
wasn't easy, and since I was the only one who could make 
that decision, I thought I had to search my own soul 
after consulting with a limited number of people, and I 
did it, and I think in the longrun it was the right 
decision. 

MR. CORMIER: (AP) Thank you, Hr. President. 

END (AT 8:30 P.M. EDT) 




